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*Pro Hac Vice Application Forthcoming 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

Reyna Dempsey, individually, on behalf of 

others similarly situated, and on behalf of the 

general public, 

                  Plaintiff, 

v. 

Government Employees Insurance 

Company, United Healthcare Services, Inc., 

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, and 

DOES 1 through 10, inclusive, 

                  Defendants. 

Case No. ____________________ 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR 

DAMAGES AND RESTITUTION 

 
(1) Discrimination on the Basis of Sex 
and Sexual Orientation in Violation of 
FEHA – Disparate Treatment (Cal. Gov. 
Code § 12940) 
 
(2) Discrimination on the Basis of Sex 
and Sexual Orientation in Violation of 
FEHA – Disparate Impact (Cal. Gov. 
Code § 12940) 

 
(3) Discrimination on the Basis of Sex 
in Violation of § 1557 of the Affordable 
Care Act (42 U.S.C. § 18116) 

 
(4) Unlawful Business Act or Practice 
in Violation of the Unfair Competition 
Law (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et 
seq.) 
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(5) Discrimination in Violation of the 
California Unruh Civil Rights Act (Cal. 
Civ. Code §§ 51, 52) 

 
(6) Unjust Enrichment 
 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

CLASS ACTION 
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SUMMARY 

1. This civil rights class action is about sex and sexual orientation discrimination in the 

provision of fertility services—specifically, GEICO and UnitedHealth’s discriminatory health 

insurance policy and associated practices that deny equal access to fertility treatment to individuals 

in non-heterosexual relationships1 where one partner is attempting to conceive. Plaintiff Reyna 

Dempsey (“Dempsey” or “Plaintiff”) and her wife are one such couple.  

2. Defendant Government Employees Insurance Company (“GEICO”), Defendant 

United Healthcare Services, Inc. and UnitedHealth Group Incorporated (collectively “Defendants”) 

provide coverage for fertility treatments services under their health insurance policy.  

3. Defendants’ policy, however, requires that an individual meet the definition of 

infertility through one of three means: (a) 6 months to one year of unprotected sex not resulting in 

conception; (b) a medical diagnosis of infertility; or (c) 6 months to one year of failed Therapeutic 

Donor Insemination. If an individual can show one of these three means, then Defendants cover 

fertility services, which includes in vitro fertilization (“IVF”) treatments.  

4. For heterosexual couples, option A is available and allows them to receive IVF 

without incurring any out-of-pocket expenses. For non-heterosexual couples, option A is not 

available because they are not provided IVF even if they make the same report of failure to conceive 

after six months to one year of unprotected sex. Option B, medical infertility, requires receiving a 

medical diagnosis. While heterosexual couples have three pathways to access IVF treatments, non-

heterosexual couples are often left only with option C: covering their own fertility services for a 

requisite period of time until they satisfy Defendants’ plan, which is elaborate, excessive, and 

costly. This is blatant sex and sexual orientation discrimination.  

5. To further explain, in June of 2020, when Plaintiff Dempsey and her wife were 

excitedly preparing to start a family, they reviewed the health insurance policy they had through 

Defendants.  

6. They were shocked to learn that to qualify for fertility benefits, Plaintiff Dempsey 

 
1 “Non-heterosexual relationships” include same-sex couples and relationships, but also include couples and 

relationships with at least one nonbinary person, i.e., a person whose gender identity does not fit within the traditional 

construction of gender as exclusively male or exclusively female.  
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as an individual in a non-heterosexual relationship would have to either receive a medical diagnosis 

of infertility from Defendants’ doctors, which she did not have, or undergo one year of Therapeutic 

Donor Insemination, which allowed for different types of therapeutic services for the treatment of 

infertility including intrauterine insemination (“IUI”), a procedure that required medical 

intervention. Heterosexual couples, on the other hand, could merely self-report having unprotected 

sex for one year to qualify for fertility benefits.  

7. As a result, Plaintiff Dempsey then underwent eight cycles of IUI over the course 

of 16 months. Each cycle cost her approximately $2,700. This number and length of IUI treatments 

is medically unnecessary and excessive. In fact, Plaintiff underwent these treatments because of 

Defendants’ policy, despite the treatments being against the advice of her doctor, costing her 

thousands of dollars, and causing her extreme emotional distress.  

8. Plaintiff repeatedly contested Defendants’ denial of her fertility services and 

requested they change their discriminatory policy.  

9. Accordingly, Plaintiff now brings this action against Defendants for compensatory 

damages and punitive damages pursuant to California Civil Code Section 3294, pre-judgement 

interest pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 3291, and costs and reasonable 

attorneys’ fees pursuant to California Government Code Section 12965(b) and California Code of 

Civil Procedure Section 1021.5.    

10. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action on behalf of all other individuals in a 

non-heterosexual relationship who, while trying to conceive, were subjected to Defendants’ 

discriminatory policy and practices of requiring them to receive diagnoses, undergo treatments, 

and/or spend money that heterosexual individuals did not have to receive, undergo, or spend to 

receive fertility treatments.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This action is based on Plaintiff’s claims of discrimination against Defendants, 

which arise under the 42 U.S.C. § 18116. This court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s federal claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

12. This court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s related state law claims 
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under 28 U.S.C. § 1367. Plaintiff’s state law claims arise from the same common nucleus of 

operative facts as the underlying federal claims. Resolving all state and federal claims in a single 

action serves the interests of judicial economy, convenience, and fairness to all parties. 

13. This court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant GEICO, which is incorporated 

in the state of Maryland with its corporate offices and principal place of business located in 

Maryland. This court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant United HealthCare Services, Inc. 

which is incorporated in the state of Minnesota with its corporate offices and principal place of 

business located in Minnesota. This court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant UnitedHealth 

Group Incorporation, which is incorporated in California and has its principal place of business in 

Wyoming.   

14. Because there is complete diversity between the parties in this action, this Court has 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332. The amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional 

minimum of this Court.  This Court also has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s and the Class Members’ 

causes of actions alleged herein under section 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because this is a class action in 

which the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000 and the named Plaintiff, and some class 

members, are citizens of a different state than one or more of the Defendants. 

15. Venue is proper in this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because the acts 

and omissions of Defendants complained of herein occurred in San Benito County, California.  

16. DIVISIONAL ASSIGNMENT: Pursuant to Local Rule 3-2(c) and (e), this action is 

properly assigned to the San Jose Division of the Northern District of California because a 

substantial portion of the events giving rise to the dispute occurred in San Benito County, 

California. 

EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

17. On June 29, 2023, Plaintiff Dempsey timely filed two charges of discrimination with 

the Equal Employment and Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) against Defendant GEICO and 

Defendant United HealthCare Services, Inc. On July 5, 2023, the EEOC issued Right-to-Sue 

Notices for both charges. The EEOC cross-filed her complaints with California’s Civil Rights 

Department (“CCRD”). On December 14, 2023, Plaintiff Dempsey timely filed a charge of 
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discrimination with the CCRD on behalf of herself and similarly situated employees against 

Defendant GEICO, Defendant United Healthcare Services, Inc., and Defendant UnitedHealth 

Group Inc. On December 20, 2023, the CCRD issued a Right-to-Sue Notice. A complainant has 

three years from the date of an unlawful practice to file a complaint with the CCRD. Cal. Gov. 

Code § 12960(e)(5). Accordingly, Plaintiff has timely exhausted the administrative remedies. A 

true-and-correct copy of Plaintiff’s charges and Right-to-Sue Notices are attached to this complaint 

as Exhibit A. 

18. While exhaustion is not required under the Affordable Care Act, Plaintiff Dempsey 

nonetheless exhausted her remedies on numerous occasions by submitting written complaints to 

Defendants about its discriminatory fertility policy asking it to change its policy and cover her 

fertility services. Defendants consistently denied her requests.  

PARTIES 

19. Plaintiff Dempsey is, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was, an adult 

resident of San Benito County in the State of California. Plaintiff was employed by Defendants 

within the meaning of Section 12926 of the California Government Code. 

20. Defendant GEICO is, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint was, a 

corporation formed and headquartered in Maryland and authorized to do business in the United 

States and in the State of California, and as such are subject to the laws of the United States and the 

State of California. Defendant GEICO has employed Plaintiff as a Virtual Total Loss Auto 

Damage Adjuster II since December 26, 2017, and is an employer as defined in California 

Government Code Section 12926 because it regularly employees five or more persons. 

21. Defendant United HealthCare Services, Inc. is a corporation formed and 

headquartered in Minnesota and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group 

Incorporation, a California corporation headquartered in Wyoming (collectively “the UHG 

Defendants”). The UHG Defendants are, and at all times mentioned in this Complaint were, 

authorized to do business in the United States and in the State of California, and as such is subject 

to the laws of the United States and the State of California. The UHG Defendants are recipients of 

federal subsidies and are employers as defined in California Government Code Section 12926 
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because it regularly employees five or more persons. The UHG Defendants acted as Defendant 

GEICO’S agent within the meaning of Section 12926 by acting as the claims administrator for 

Defendant GEICO’s health benefits, a term and condition of employment. 

22. In addition to the Defendants named above, Plaintiff sues fictitious Defendants Does 

1-10, inclusive, because their names, capacities, status, or facts showing them to be liable are not 

presently known. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that each of the 

fictitiously-named Defendants are responsible in some manner for the occurrences herein alleged, 

and such Defendants caused Plaintiff’s damages as herein alleged. Plaintiff will amend this 

complaint to show their true names and capacities, together with appropriate charging language, 

when such information has been ascertained. 

23. Plaintiff is informed, believes, and thereon alleges that each of the Defendants herein 

was at all times relevant to this action the agent, employee, representative partner, and/or joint 

venture of the remaining Defendants and was acting within the course and scope of the relationship. 

Plaintiff is further informed, believes, and thereon alleges that each of the Defendants herein gave 

consent to, ratified, and authorized the acts alleged herein to the remaining Defendants. 

24. Finally, at all times relevant herein, all Defendants acted as agents of all other 

Defendants in committing the acts alleged herein.    

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

25. At all relevant times prior to July 2023, Defendants’ health insurance policy for 

fertility benefits discriminated against individuals in a non-heterosexual relationship who tried or 

wanted to conceive while being subjected to Defendants’ policy.  

26. Specifically, in order to receive fertility benefits, an individual was required to 

demonstrate:  

(A) 6 months to one year of sexual intercourse without a pregnancy; or 

 

(B) a medical diagnosis of infertility unrelated to voluntary sterilization or failed 

reversal of voluntary sterilization;2 or  

 
2 The policy states:  

• To meet the definition of Infertility you must meet one of the following: 

o You are not able to become pregnant after the following periods of time of regular unprotected 

intercourse or Therapeutic Donor Insemination: 
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(C) 6 months to one year of Therapeutic Donor Insemination without a pregnancy. 

 

27. For non-heterosexual couples, Option A is not possible by virtue that individuals in 

a non-heterosexual relationship cannot get pregnant through sexual intercourse with each other. 

Heterosexual couples, however, can use Option A and merely self-report having unprotected sex 

for 6 months to one year, depending on age, without pregnancy to receive fertility benefits.   

28. Option B requires a medical diagnosis.   

29. That leaves Option C, a method of achieving pregnancy without sexual intercourse, 

which allows for different types of therapeutic services for the treatment of infertility including IUI. 

IUI requires medical intervention whereby doctors place sperm directly into a woman’s uterus 

using a small catheter. It requires repeated blood tests, ultrasounds and trigger shots3 before and 

after each procedure. Defendants’ policy required 6 months of this procedure for women 35 and 

older and one year of this procedure for women under 35. Research shows that the vast majority 

(90-95%) of successful IUIs happen within three to four attempts.4 Moreover, IUI can cost 

anywhere from $460-$3,000 per procedure. IVF, which has higher success rates than IUI, can cost 

between $15,000 and $30,000 per cycle.  Critically, fertility services are largely uncovered by 

Defendants’ insurance scheme until an individual has completed Options A, B or C.   In short, 

heterosexual couples can simply report not conceiving after unprotected sex and receive covered 

fertility treatments, which includes IVF. Non-heterosexual couples cannot. 

 
▪ One year, if you are a female under age 35. 

▪ Six months, if you are a female age 35 or older. 

o You are female and have failed to achieve or maintain a pregnancy due to impotence/sexual 

dysfunction; 

o You are female and have infertility that is not related to voluntary sterilization or failed reversal of 

voluntary sterilization. 

o You are male and have a diagnosis of a male factor causing infertility (e.g. treatment of sperm 

abnormalities including the surgical recovery of sperm). 

• You have infertility that is not related to voluntary sterilization. 

• You are a female: 

o Under age 44 and using own oocytes (eggs). 

o Under age 55 and using donor oocytes (eggs). 

• Not a child dependent. 

 
3 A trigger shot starts the ovulation cycle to achieve the optimal time to conceive a baby. 

 
4 See Paul C. Magarelli MD PhD, IUI Success Rates, CNY Fertility, (Sept. 21, 2023), 

https://www.cnyfertility.com/iui-success-rates/. 
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30. Seemingly recognizing this, Defendants changed their insurance policy in July of 

2023 to add having a same-sex partner to the definition of infertility. That is, rather than receiving 

a diagnosis of infertility or undergoing up to a year of medical procedures, one can report having a 

same-sex partner as a basis for receiving fertility benefits.5 

31. But July 2023 was too late to avoid discriminating against and inflicting harm on 

Plaintiff Dempsey and participants in Defendants’ insurance policy who tried to conceive while in 

a non-heterosexual relationship before that date.  

32. Like other participants in non-heterosexual relationships who were trying to 

conceive, Plaintiff Dempsey was discriminated against on the basis of sex when she and her wife 

began planning to start a family in 2020. Option A of having unprotected sex to conceive was 

unavailable to them. Regarding Option B of the medical diagnosis of infertility, Plaintiff 

Dempsey’s own doctor had given her a diagnosis of unspecified female infertility in July 2020 but 

Defendants would not accept that and required her to undergo blood tests by Defendants’ fertility 

specialists. They did not find her infertile. Thus, Plaintiff Dempsey was only left with Option C: 

IUI. 

33. Knowing that heterosexual couples merely had to abide by an honor system of self-

reporting having unprotected sex for a year without a pregnancy and that she, by being in a non-

heterosexual relationship, would have to endure medical procedures for a year, Plaintiff Dempsey 

requested that her fertility benefits be covered by Defendants. She was denied on April 5, 2021. 

34. From April 5, 2021 when she had her first IUI cycle to August 24, 2022, Plaintiff 

Dempsey underwent eight IUI cycles over a period of 16 months. Throughout that time, Plaintiff 

Dempsey’s requests for coverage continued to be denied, even after she satisfied Defendants’ 

discriminatory policy of undergoing IUI for six months to  one year. Each IUI cycle required 

Plaintiff Dempsey to visit the clinic before and after—often times more than once in one week—

 
5 Specifically, the policy began to define “infertility” as either: 

• The inability to conceive a pregnancy or to carry a pregnancy to a live birth after a year or more of regular 

opposite sex/heterosexual relations without contraception; or 

• The presence of a demonstrated condition recognized by a licensed physician who is a network provider as a 

cause of Infertility; or 

• A same sex partner may be considered infertile. 
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for blood tests, ultrasounds, and trigger shots, the latter of which left her with side effects including 

headaches and swelling. She also had to take medication to help with the cycles including Clomid 

and Letrozol, which produced severe side effects including extreme chest and heart pain, back 

pain, loss of feeling in my lower extremities, panic attacks and anger outbursts, which impacted 

her ability to work. 

35. In just one month from April 5, 2021 to May 5, 2021, Plaintiff Dempsey visited the 

clinic eight times. Per the policy, “Covered Persons who do not live within a 60 mile radius of a 

Fertility Solutions Designated Provider will need to contact a Fertility Solutions case manager to 

determine a Network Provider prior to starting treatment” (emphasis added). Yet, in conversations 

with Defendants’ case manager, Plaintiff Dempsey was still required to utilize one of their 

designated providers, even though the closest one was two hours, and over 60 miles, from where 

she and her wife live. This required her to take significant time off work and endure mounting gas 

bills. Each IUI treatment cost her approximately $2,700 in medical bills, gas and medication.  

36. Plaintiff’s first IUI procedure was unsuccessful. Her successive IUI cycles took 

place on: May 8, 2021, June 10, 2021, August 30, 2021, September 28, 2021, and November 16, 

2021. In those six months, she visited the clinic approximately 20 times for blood tests, x-rays, 

ultrasounds and shots. After each unsuccessful IUI, Plaintiff Dempsey felt despondent and 

hopeless.  

37. After her sixth IUI cycle on November 16, 2021, Plaintiff Dempsey became 

pregnant. She and her wife were elated after enduring seven months of doctor visits, medications, 

medical procedures, and emotional distress. Approximately one month later, Plaintiff Dempsey 

tragically suffered a miscarriage.  

38. Given Defendants’ discriminatory policy caused her such extreme emotional 

distress, she continued to complain and request coverage. On December 15, 2021, she spoke with 

the UHG Defendants’ Fertility Solutions regarding her previous denials. She was again told she 

would not be covered because she hadn’t completed one year of IUI. On January 3, 2022, she sent 

a letter to Defendant GEICO “requesting that GEICO revisit its fertility coverage policy as it has 

become clear that it is discriminatory against non-heterosexual individuals, including same sex 
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couples.” She wrote that she had expended $15,000 to date on fertility care and that the “policy as 

written is discriminatory and places an unreasonable burden on non-heterosexual couples.” 

Defendants denied her request on January 24, 2022.  

39. On March 1, 2022, Plaintiff Dempsey’s doctor, Evan Rosenbluth, who is one of the 

UHG Defendants’ Fertility Solutions specialists, submitted a letter of medical necessity to 

Defendants that she not continue undergoing additional IUI cycles. The letter read: “The patient 

saw me for a consultation on 12/22/2021 for the condition: Male infertility (same sex female 

partner, oligomenorrhea, oligoovu[l]ation, and abnormal uterine bleeding). Prior to seeing me she 

has been treated with 7 unsuccessful IUI cycles. This is more IUI cycles than is typically 

recommended by board certified reproductive endocrinologists.” He wrote that the “medically 

appropriate course of action” was IVF “to optimize her chance for a healthy child.”  

40. On March 29, 2022, Defendants denied Dr. Rosenbluth’s appeal again stating that 

Plaintiff Dempsey did not meet their definition of infertility. They did not reference Dr. 

Rosenbluth’s infertility diagnosis. 

41. In April of 2022, twelve months after Plaintiff Dempsey’s first IUI cycle, she 

satisfied Defendants’ definitions of infertility by actively undergoing IUI for one year without a 

successful pregnancy6. She wrote a second level appeal letter to Defendants on May 10, 2022 

explaining as much and included medical documentation that she had been given separate 

diagnoses of female infertility and irregular periods dating back to July of 2020. In the letter, she 

wrote, “[B]y requiring individuals like myself in same-sex relationships to first expend tens of 

thousands of dollars in IUI treatments prior to extending coverage you are inflicting a monetary 

burden that other individuals under the plan do not have to shoulder. This is clear discrimination 

based on my sexual orientation.” Plaintiff Dempsey did not receive a response to her letter. On July 

24, 2022 and August 24, 2022, she received her seventh and eight cycles of IUI, against her doctor’s 

orders. 

42. On August 4, 2022, Defendants informed her that her May 10th appeal letter was 

 
6 There were some months Plaintiff Dempsey had to miss an IUI cycle due to contracting COVID-19 and other 

personal reasons.  
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ignored because of a technicality in how she submitted her letter. She re-submitted it on August 5, 

2022. Defendants again denied her coverage on September 7, 2022. She continued to attend 

doctor’s appointments for ultrasounds and blood draws in anticipation of having to undergo 

additional IUI cycles in the hopes of getting pregnant.   

43. In October of 2022, Plaintiff Dempsey was informed that Defendant GEICO was 

changing insurance administrators from the UHG Defendants to Cigna in January of 2023. Despite 

repeated calls to Defendants, she was not told what her fertility benefits would be under the new 

policy, causing her distress and anxiety.  

44. On November 2, 2022, the UHG Defendants reversed course and informed Plaintiff 

Dempsey that they would start covering her fertility treatment because she was given a "new" 

diagnosis of ovarian dysfunction -- even though she had received the "new" diagnosis nearly a year 

ago, and the UHG Defendants continued to deny coverage over that nearly year-long period.  

45. In March of 2023, shortly after Defendant GEICO began covering her IVF 

treatments, she became pregnant. She gave birth at the end of 2023. She and her wife are overjoyed. 

But there was no need for her to undergo the pain, suffering, and expense she had to endure to get 

to this outcome. 

46. Plaintiff Dempsey has suffered both economic damages and immense emotional 

distress as a result of Defendants’ discriminatory policy.  

47. So, too, have other individuals in non-heterosexual relationships who tried to 

conceive while subject to Defendants’ unfair and discriminatory insurance scheme.  

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

48. Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all similarly situated individuals, brings this case 

as a class action under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

49. Plaintiff asserts her claims against Defendants on behalf of the following Classes. 

50. California Class: The Proposed California Class is defined as all GEICO 

employees in non-heterosexual relationships who were enrolled in the GEICO Corporation 

Medical, Dental and Vision Care Plan (the “Plan”) within the State of California at any point from 

three years prior to July 5, 2023 through July 2023, who sought fertility benefits under the Plan. 
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51. Nationwide Class: The proposed Nationwide Class is defined as all individuals in 

non-heterosexual relationships who were enrolled in a United Health Group or United HealthCare 

medical plan wherein the eligibility criteria for Infertility Services are the same or substantially 

similar to the requirements in the GEICO Corporation Medical, Dental and Vision Care Plan  in 

the United States at any point from four years prior to this action’s filing date through July 2023, 

who sought fertility benefits under their applicable health insurance plan.  

52. Plaintiff and the proposed Classes have been equally affected by Defendants’ 

violations of law. 

53. The persons in the proposed Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable. While the precise number of class members has not been determined at this time, 

upon information and belief, there are more than 40 individuals in the proposed Classes and/or the 

class members are so numerous that joinder would be impracticable. 

54. The common questions of law and fact include, but are not limited to: 

a. Whether the UHG Defendants are an employer of Plaintiff and members of 

the California Class under FEHA, Gov. Code § 12940; 

b. Whether Plaintiff and members of the California Class are members of a 

protected class for purposes of FEHA, Gov. Code § 12940; 

c. Whether Plaintiff and members of the California Class suffered adverse 

employment action(s) in seeking treatment for fertility services under the 

Plan; 

d. Whether the Plan treated individuals in heterosexual relationships more 

favorably than individuals in non-heterosexual relationships; 

e. Whether the Plan had a disparate impact on Plaintiff members of the 

California Class by imposing additional conditions on them before they could 

secure fertility benefits; 

f. Whether Plaintiff and members of the California Class are entitled to punitive 

damages; 

g. Whether the Affordable Care Act prohibits discrimination based on sex; 
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h. Whether the UHG Defendants qualify as a health program or activity subject 

to Section 1557 of the ACA; 

i. Whether the UHG Defendants receive federal financial assistance; 

j. Whether the UHG Defendants discriminated against Plaintiff and members 

of the Nationwide Class in the provision of healthcare services; 

k. Whether Defendants’ construction, offering, and administration of the Plan is 

a business practice under the UCL; 

l. Whether Defendants engaged in an unlawful business practice through the 

construction, offering, and administration of the Plan; 

m. Whether the Plan violated California Health and Safety Code Section 1365.5;  

n. Whether the Plan was a contract between Defendants and Plaintiff Dempsey 

and Defendants and California Class Members; 

o. Whether fertility benefits were considered benefits or coverage under the 

Plan; 

p. Whether Defendants’ fertility benefits in the Plan were limited and 

exclusionary based on sex and/or sexual orientation; 

q. Whether Defendants are business establishments for purposes of the Unruh 

Act; 

r. Whether Defendants, through provision of the Plan, denied Plaintiff and 

California Class Members the full and equal advantages, accommodations, 

access to facilities, privileges of membership, and/or services because of sex 

and/or sexual orientation; 

s. Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiff and 

the Class Members; 

55. The questions of law and fact listed above will yield common answers for the 

classes. 

56. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the class. Plaintiff Dempsey is an individual in a 

non-heterosexual relationship who is currently employed by Defendant GEICO who was enrolled 
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in the Plan from 2017 to 2022. 

57. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the proposed Classes 

and have retained counsel experienced in complex class action litigation. Plaintiff is represented by 

Nichols Kaster, PLLP, a leading law firm with significant expertise representing plaintiffs across 

the country in employment and class action matters, including class discrimination cases and class 

actions under the Affordable Care Act. Plaintiff is also represented by the California Civil Rights 

Law Group, a prominent California law firm with a long history of successfully representing 

plaintiffs in discrimination cases and significant experience prosecuting discrimination class 

actions. 

58. Class treatment is appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b) because questions of law 

or fact common to class members predominate over any questions affecting only individual 

members. Moreover, a class action is superior to individual litigation because common questions 

may be resolved efficiently for the entire class. Putative class members do not have an interest in 

individually controlling the litigation and, as far as Plaintiff is aware there is no pending litigation 

concerning the matters in this complaint.  

 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination on the Basis of Sex and Sexual Orientation in Violation of FEHA 

Cal. Gov. Code § 12940, et seq. – Disparate Treatment 

(By Plaintiff and the California Class Against all Defendants) 

59. Plaintiff Dempsey incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

60. In relevant part, California Government Code section 12940(a) provides that it shall 

be unlawful for an employer to discriminate against employees in the terms and conditions of their 

employment because of their sex and/or sexual orientation. 

61. FEHA defines “employer” as including “any person regularly employing five or 

more persons, or any person acting as an agent of an employer, directly or indirectly.” Cal. Gov. 

Code, § 12926. At all relevant times, Defendants regularly employed more than five persons and 

all Defendants acted as agents of all other Defendants in committing the acts alleged herein and as 

such qualify as Plaintiff’s employers under FEHA. The UHG Defendants are liable under FEHA 
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as an agent of Defendant GEICO because Defendant GEICO delegated an essential term and 

condition of employment, i.e. insurance benefits administration, to the UHG Defendants who acted 

on Defendant GEICO’s behalf.  “[H]ealth insurance and other fringe benefits are ‘compensation, 

terms, conditions, or privileges of employment.’” Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co. v. 

E.E.O.C., 462 U.S. 669, 682-83 (1983).  

62. Disparate treatment means that “the employer simply treats some people less 

favorably than others because of their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” Int’l Bhd. of 

Teamsters v. United States, 431 U.S. 324, 335 n.15 (1977). 

63. A plaintiff can establish a prima facie case by showing that “(1) [s]he belongs to a 

protected class; (2) [s]he was qualified for the position; (3) [s]he was subject to an adverse 

employment action; and (4) similarly situated individuals outside [her] protected class were treated 

more favorably.” Chuang v. Univ. of California Davis, Bd. of Trustees, 225 F.3d 1115, 1123 (9th 

Cir. 2000) (citing McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973)). 

64. As an individual in a non-heterosexual relationship, Plaintiff Dempsey is a member 

of a protected class by virtue of her sex and sexual orientation. 

65. Plaintiff Dempsey suffered an adverse employment action because she has been 

discriminated against in compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment by being 

denied equal access to infertility benefits under Defendants’ insurance policy.  

66. Defendants’ policy treated heterosexual individuals more favorably than individuals 

in non-heterosexual relationships. The policy required these individuals to undergo repeated time-

consuming and expensive medical procedures as part of IUI to receive fertility benefits. 

Heterosexual couples merely had to self-report that they engaged in 6 months to one year of sexual 

intercourse without pregnancy to receive fertility benefits. This was not available to individuals in 

non-heterosexual relationships. Plaintiff Dempsey was forced to pay tens of thousands of dollars, 

undergo painful medical procedures, and spend large amounts of time to gain access to the fertility 

benefits solely because she and her partner are in a non-heterosexual relationship. A heterosexual 

couple in the same position could access the fertility benefits without cost, undergoing medical 

procedures, or spending large amounts of time merely by asserting that they had engaged in 
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unprotected sexual intercourse for one year without pregnancy.  

67. As a direct, legal and proximate result of the discrimination, Plaintiff and the 

putative classes have suffered damages, including emotional distress, lost wages and other 

economic damages, in an amount to be proven at trial.   

68. By reason of the conduct of Defendants, Plaintiff has necessarily retained attorneys 

to prosecute the action on her behalf. Pursuant to California Government Code § 12965(b), as a 

result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff and the putative classes are entitled to recover attorneys’ 

fees, costs, and expert witness fees.  

69. Defendants’ misconduct was committed intentionally, in a malicious, fraudulent, 

despicable, and oppressive manner, entitling Plaintiff and the putative classes to punitive damages 

against Defendant.   

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination on the Basis of Sex and Sexual Orientation in Violation of FEHA 

Cal. Gov. Code § 12940, et seq. – Disparate Impact 

(By Plaintiff and the California Class Against all Defendants) 

70. Plaintiff Dempsey incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

71. “Disparate impact discrimination has been recognized as actionable under both title 

VII . . . and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA).” Carter v. CB Richard Ellis, 

Inc., 122 Cal. App. 4th 1313, 1321 (Cal. Ct. App. 2004) (citations omitted). 

72. “Prohibited discrimination may … be found on a theory of disparate impact, i.e., 

that regardless of motive, a facially neutral employer practice or policy, bearing no manifest 

relationship to job requirements, in fact had a disproportionate adverse effect on members of the 

protected class.” Guz v. Bechtel Nat. Inc., 24 Cal. 4th 317, 354 n.20 (Cal. 2000) (internal citations 

omitted). 

73. Because FEHA has similar objectives and wording to Title VII, “California courts 

often look to federal decisions interpreting these statutes for assistance in interpreting the FEHA.” 

Reno v. Baird, 18 Cal. 4th 640, 647 (Cal. 1998). Disparate impact proscribes “practices that are fair 

in form, but discriminatory in operation.” Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424, 431 (1971). 
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74. Under a disparate impact theory, a plaintiff is required to 1) “identify[] the specific 

employment practice that is challenged” and 2) prove causation by “offer[ing] statistical evidence 

of a kind and degree sufficient to show that the practice in question” caused the adverse 

employment action. Watson v. Fort Worth Bank & Trust, 487 U.S. 977, 994-95 (1988); see Garcia 

v. Spun Steak Co., 998 F.2d 1480, 1485-1486 (9th Cir. 1993) (“a disparate impact claim may be 

based upon a challenge to a practice or policy that has a significant adverse impact on the ‘terms, 

conditions, or privileges’ of the employment of a protected group”). 

75. The specific employment practice being challenged is the insurance policy and its 

discriminatory restrictions dictating when an employee qualified for fertility benefits. 

76. The policy caused the adverse employment action of denying individuals in non-

heterosexual relationships, including Plaintiff Dempsey, the same access to fertility benefits that 

heterosexual individuals enjoy.  

77. The UHG Defendants are liable under FEHA as an agent of Defendant GEICO 

because Defendant GEICO delegated an essential term and condition of employment, i.e. insurance 

benefits administration, to the UHG Defendants who acted on Defendant GEICO’s behalf.  

“[H]ealth insurance and other fringe benefits are ‘compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of 

employment.’” Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co. v. E.E.O.C., 462 U.S. 669, 682–83 

(1983). 

78. As the policy was offered by Defendants as part of the compensation, terms, 

conditions, or privileges of employment, being denied full access to the benefits of the policy is an 

adverse employment action. Heterosexual individuals could receive fertility benefits under the 

policy by merely reporting that they engaged in 6 months to one year of unprotected sexual 

intercourse without pregnancy. As individuals in non-heterosexual relationships cannot become 

pregnant by engaging in unprotected sexual intercourse with each other, this avenue under the 

policy was closed to individuals in non-heterosexual relationships. These individuals therefore had 

to qualify by undergoing 6 months to one year of expensive and time-consuming IUI cycles. As no 

individuals in non-heterosexual relationships could qualify under the self-reporting avenue, they 

were impacted disproportionately compared to heterosexual individuals seeking the same fertility 
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benefits. 

79. As a direct, legal and proximate result of the discrimination, Plaintiff and members 

of the putative classes have suffered damages, including emotional distress, lost wages and other 

economic damages, in an amount to be proven at trial.   

80. By reason of the conduct of Defendants, Plaintiff has necessarily retained attorneys 

to prosecute the action on her behalf. Pursuant to California Government Code § 12965(b), as a 

result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the putative classes are entitled to recover attorneys’ 

fees, costs, and expert witness fees.  

81. Defendants’ misconduct was committed intentionally, in a malicious, fraudulent, 

despicable, and oppressive manner, entitling Plaintiff and the putative classes to punitive damages 

against Defendants.   

 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination on the Basis of Sex in Violation of § 1557 of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) 

42 U.S.C. § 18116 

(By Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class Against the UHG Defendants) 

82. Plaintiff Dempsey incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

83. Section 1557 of the ACA bars discrimination “on the ground prohibited under . . . 

title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972.” 42 U.S.C. § 18116(a). Specifically, an individual 

shall not “be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to 

discrimination under, any health program or activity, any part of which is receiving Federal 

financial assistance.” Ibid. “The enforcement mechanisms provided for and available under . . .title 

IX . . . shall apply for purposes of violations of this subsection.” Ibid. 

84. Title IX forbids discrimination on the basis of sex in educational institutions 

receiving federal funding. Schwake v. Arizona Bd. of Regents, 967 F.3d 940, 946 (9th Cir. 2020).  

85. Bostock’s decision that discrimination based on sexual orientation is inextricably 

discrimination "because of sex" and "on the basis of sex" applies to Title IX and Section 1557. Doe 

v. Snyder, 28 F.4th 103, 113-114 (9th Cir. 2022). 

86. Section 1557’s implementing regulations define the term “health program or 
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activity” as including “all of the operations of entities principally engaged in the business of 

providing healthcare that receive Federal financial assistance.” 45 C.F.R. § 92.3(b). “For any entity 

not principally engaged in the business of providing healthcare, the requirements applicable to a 

‘health program or activity’ under this part shall apply to such entity's operations only to the extent 

any such operation receives Federal financial assistance. . . .” Ibid. 

87. To establish a claim under Section 1557, a plaintiff must show that “(1) the 

defendant is a healthcare program that receives federal financial assistance; (2) the plaintiff was 

excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or subjected to discrimination in the 

provision of healthcare services; and (3) the latter occurred on the basis of sex.” C.P. by and through 

Pritchard v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Illinois, 536 F. Supp. 3d 791, 796 (W.D. Wash. 2021) (citing 

Schwake, 967 F.3d at 946; Kadel v. Folwell, 446 F. Supp. 3d 1, 12-13 (M.D.N.C. 2020)). 

88. At all relevant times, Defendants UnitedHealth Group and United HealthCare 

operated a health program or activity in the form of offering health care insurance. Defendants 

UnitedHealth Group and United HealthCare are principally engaged in the business of providing 

healthcare. The UHG Defendants are a recipient of federal financial assistance.  

89. Plaintiff Dempsey was denied the full benefits of Defendants’ healthcare services 

by being discriminated against and denied equal access to fertility benefits. Plaintiff Dempsey was 

required to undergo expensive and time-consuming IUI cycles to gain access to fertility benefits 

that heterosexual couples gain access to by merely self-reporting 6 months to one year of 

unprotected sexual intercourse without pregnancy. Individuals in non-heterosexual relationships 

could not qualify for the self-reporting option to gain access to fertility benefits, unlike heterosexual 

couples, causing significant economic, financial and emotional burden. 

90. Through their actions and treatment of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class, the UHG 

Defendants and their agents intended to discriminate against Plaintiff and members of the 

Nationwide Class on the basis of sex.  

91. As a direct, legal and proximate result of the discrimination, Plaintiff and members 

of the Nationwide Class have suffered damages, including lost wages, out of pocket costs for 

unnecessary medical procedures, and other economic damages, in an amount to be proven at trial.   
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

 Unlawful Business Act or Practice in Violation of the Unfair Competition Law 

(UCL) 

Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq. 

(By Plaintiff and the California Class Against All Defendants) 

92. Plaintiff Dempsey incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

93. The UCL proscribes “unfair competition,” which is defined as “any unlawful, 

unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. 

94. The UCL governs “anything that can properly be called a business practice.” Cel-

Tech Commc’ns, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Tel. Co., 20 Cal. 4th 163, 180 (Cal. 1999) (quoting 

Rubin v. Green, 4 Cal. 4th 1187, 1200 (Cal. 1993)). 

95. Defendants’ construction, offering, and administration of the healthcare insurance 

plan is a business practice. 

96. The “unlawful” prong of the UCL “‘borrows’ violations of other laws and treats 

them as unlawful practices that the unfair competition law makes independently actionable.” Cel-

Tech, 20 Cal. 4th at 180 (quoting State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Superior Ct., 45 Cal. App. 4th 

1093, 1103 (Cal. Ct. App. 1996)) (cleaned up). 

97. “[P]rivate individuals can bring suit under the UCL for violations of the Knox–

Keene [Health Care Service Plan] Act.” Blue Cross of California, Inc. v. Superior Ct., 180 Cal. App. 

4th 1237, 1250 (Cal. Ct. App. 2009), as modified on denial of reh'g (Jan. 12, 2010) (citing Bell v. 

Blue Cross of California, 131 Cal. App. 4th 211, 216-217 (Cal. Ct. App. 2005)). 

98. California Health and Safety Code Section 1365.5 is part of the Knox-Keene Health 

Care Service Plan Act. Cal. Health & Safety Code § 1340, et seq. 

99. Section 1365.5, subdivision (b) prohibits the “benefits or coverage” of any health 

care service plan or specialized health care service plan contract from being subject to “any 

limitations, exceptions, exclusions, reductions, … or other modifications because of the … sex, 

marital status, [or] sexual orientation . . . of any contracting party, potential contracting party, or 

person reasonably expected to benefit from that contract as a subscriber, enrollee, member, or 

otherwise.” 

Case 5:24-cv-00425-VKD   Document 1   Filed 01/24/24   Page 21 of 58



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

  -22-  

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND RESTITUTION 

 
 

100. Defendants’ insurance plan was a health service plan contract between Defendants 

and Plaintiff Dempsey, and between Defendants and California Class Members. Plaintiff Dempsey 

and each member of the California Class was a contracting party and reasonably expected to benefit 

from the contract.  

101. Fertility benefits under Defendants’ insurance plan were “benefits or coverage” of 

the plan. Plaintiff’s and California Class Members’ means to access fertility benefits were limited 

compared to the means available to heterosexual couples because Plaintiffs and California Class 

Members could not self-report one year of unprotected sexual intercourse without pregnancy and 

thus had to expend thousands of dollars for fertility care before being given coverage. This limitation 

resulted in an effective exclusion of individuals in non-heterosexual relationships (who were not 

otherwise diagnosed with infertility) from receiving fertility benefits without undergoing expensive 

and time-consuming medical procedures mandated by the policy.  

102. The benefits were limited and exclusionary based on sex and/or sexual orientation 

because individuals in non-heterosexual relationships could not qualify under the same self-

reporting criteria as heterosexual couples. 

103. In order to bring a UCL action, a plaintiff must also be able to show economic injury. 

Zhang v. Superior Ct., 57 Cal. 4th 364, 372 (Cal. 2013) (citing Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Ct., 51 

Cal. 4th 310, 326 (Cal. 2011)). 

104. Plaintiff Dempsey and members of the California Class suffered economic injury by 

being forced to spend tens of thousands of dollars on repeated IUI cycles and other Therapeutic 

Donor Insemination methods required by Defendants’ policy which heterosexual couples did not 

have to spend under Defendants’ policy. 

105. Plaintiff and California Class Members are entitled to restitution, including but not 

limited to insurance premium payments, deductibles, co-payments, and co-insurance payments. 

Plaintiff and California Class Members are also entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to 

Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5 and other applicable law, and costs. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination in Violation of the California Unruh Civil Rights Act 

Cal. Civ. Code §§ 51, 52 
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(By Plaintiff and the California Class Against All Defendants) 

106. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the factual allegations set forth in the preceding 

paragraphs.  

107. The California Unruh Civil Rights Act (“Unruh Act”) prohibits discrimination in 

the advantages, accommodations, access to facilities, privileges of membership, and/or services 

because of protected characteristics, including sex and/or sexual orientation. Cal. Civ. Code §§ 51, 

52. 

108. Defendants GEICO and UHG are business establishments for the purposes of the 

Unruh Act. They provide services for profit, employ persons to provide, manage, and administer 

those services, and serve the business and/or economic interests of their owners.  

109. By providing discriminatory health benefits, Defendants denied Plaintiff and 

California Class Members the full and equal advantages, accommodations, access to facilities, 

privileges of membership, and/or services because of her sex and/or sexual orientation.  

110. This denial was substantially motivated by Plaintiff’s and California Class 

Members’ sex and/or sexual orientation, as evidenced by the fact that the discriminatory policy 

imposed significant financial burdens on her that it does not on heterosexual couples simply 

because she is an individual in a non-heterosexual relationship.  

111. Plaintiff and California Class Members suffered substantial emotional distress as a 

result of Defendants discriminatory policy.  

112. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful acts, Plaintiff and California Class Members are 

entitled to recover statutory damages of a maximum of three times the amount of actual damages, 

or a minimum of $4,000 per class member.  

113. As a further proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has necessarily 

retained legal counsel and thereby sustained and continues to sustain damages in the form of 

recoverable attorney’s fees and costs.  

114. Defendants engaged in the acts alleged herein maliciously, fraudulently, and 

oppressively; with the wrongful intention of injuring Plaintiff and California Class Members; with 

the conscious disregard of the rights and safety of her; and with an improper and evil motive 
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amounting to malice. Plaintiff and California Class Members are thus entitled to recover punitive 

damages from Defendants in an amount according to proof. 

 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unjust Enrichment 

(By Plaintiff, the California Class, and the Nationwide Class Against All Defendants) 

115. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the factual allegations set forth in the preceding 

paragraphs.  

116. As a result of their discriminatory practices, Defendants were unjustly enriched at 

the expense of Plaintiff and the Class Members. Defendants’ insurance plan was a health service 

plan contract between Defendants and Plaintiff Dempsey, and between Defendants and California 

Class Members and Nationwide Class Members. Plaintiff Dempsey and each member of both 

Classes were a contracting party and reasonably expected to benefit from the contract.  

117. Plaintiff Dempsey and members of the California Class and Nationwide class were 

required to undergo expensive and time-consuming IUI cycles to gain access to fertility benefits 

that heterosexual couples gained access to by merely self-reporting one year of unprotected sexual 

intercourse without pregnancy. Such expensive and time-consuming medical procedures caused 

individuals in non-heterosexual relationships significant economic and financial burden, including 

but not limited to expensive out of pocket costs, insurance premiums, co-payments, deductibles, 

and co-insurance payments. Defendants benefitted from its discriminatory policy at the expense of 

Plaintiff and the Class Members. 

118. On behalf of herself and the proposed Classes, Plaintiff seeks restitution or 

restitutionary disgorgement in an amount to be proven at trial.  

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as follows: 

a. That the Court certify this as a class action as to the proposed Classes, with Plaintiff as 

the Class Representative and Plaintiffs’ Counsel as Class Counsel; 

b. General damages according to proof, however, no less than the jurisdictional limit of 

this court; 
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c. Special damages in amounts according to proof, together with prejudgment interest; 

d. Punitive damages in an amount appropriate to punish Defendants and to deter others 

from engaging in similar conduct; 

e. Reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to California Government Code Section 

12965(b), Civil Code Section 52(a) and any other applicable statute; 

f. Penalties as allowable under California Civil Code Section 52(a), Business and 

Professions Code Sections 17206 and 17536 and any other applicable statute; 

g. Interest as provided by law;  

h. Penalties as provided by law; 

i. For such other and further relief as this Court deems equitable and appropriate. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues. 

 

Dated: January 24, 2024   NICHOLS KASTER, LLP 

      NICHOLS KASTER, PLLP 

      CALIFORNIA CIVIL RIGHTS LAW GROUP 

       

      By:  /s/ Matthew C. Helland   

       Matthew C. Helland 

       

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Putative Class 
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Married

Asian

Asian Indian 

Canadian 

Fijian 

German 

Iranian 

Iraqi
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
• 

LEGAL AUTHORITY FOR COLLECTION AND USE OF INFORMATION

DISCLOSURE AND SHARING

Case 5:24-cv-00425-VKD   Document 1   Filed 01/24/24   Page 50 of 58



WHAT HAPPENS TO INFORMATION YOU SUBMIT TO US?

LINKS

COOKIES

•
• 
•

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE
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MINORS

SECURITY

ACCESS AND CORRECTIONS TO YOUR PERSONAL INFORMATION

HOW TO CONTACT US IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS POLICY

CHANGES TO OUR PRIVACY POLICY

EFFECTIVE DATE
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